THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Edgar J. Dickson
Appellate No.: 2012-212566
Indictment Nos.: 2011-GS-38-0114, 0124

The State.....Respondent

vs.

Darius Ransom-Williams.....Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Sheila M. Bias
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, P.A.
1900 Barnwell Street (29201)
P.O. Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
803-771-4400

Robert Dudek
Appellate Defense
S.C. Commission on Indigent Defense
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401
Columbia, South Carolina 29201

*Counsel for Appellant
Darius Ransom-Williams*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court erred in finding the inclusion of the reconstructed proceedings made the record sufficient for appellate review.

- II. In the alternative, and should this court find the record is sufficient for appellate review, the trial court erred in admitting Appellant's confession because the confession was obtained in violation of Appellant's constitutional rights.
 - a. The trial court erred in admitting Appellant's confession because it was obtained in violation of the mandates of Edwards v. Arizona.

 - b. The trial court erred in admitting Appellant's confession because the confession was not voluntary.

 - c. The trial judge's error in admitting the statements was not harmless.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Darius Ransom-Williams (“Appellant”) was indicted under 2011-GS-38-0114 and -0124 for burglary in the first degree and attempted murder. Appellant was tried July 16-18, 2012, in Orangeburg County. A jury found Appellant guilty of burglary in the first degree and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature (ABHAN). Appellant was sentenced to an aggregate term of thirty years’ imprisonment.

During the pendency of this appeal, there were significant delays in the delivery of the trial transcript. Almost a year after the trial, the trial’s court reporter’s tapes and notes were delivered to Court Administration for their handling. After the tapes were transcribed, it was discovered that tapes were missing and portions of the present tapes were inaudible—resulting in no transcription of a Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986) hearing and the closing arguments of both the solicitor and trial counsel. This Court granted a motion for remand and reconstruction on December 11, 2013. The reconstruction hearing was held before the Honorable Judge Dickson in Orangeburg County on January 3, 2014. Judge Dickson issued an Order, filed January 22, 2014, finding the reconstructed proceedings should be included in the record on appeal and that the transcript was sufficient for appellate review. Appellant timely served a Rule 59(e), SCRCF, Motion for Reconsideration and Supporting Memorandum on January 27, 2014. By order filed January 31, 2014, Judge Dickson denied the Motion for Reconsideration.¹

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On July 25, 2011, George Harrison (“Harrison” or “Victim”), a sixty-one-year-old gentleman, was attacked in his home in Orangeburg County. (R.p.111, line 18-p.112,

¹ It should also be noted that the Reconstruction Transcript was not delivered until over seven (7) months after the Reconstruction hearing.

line 14; p.114, lines 21-25). Harrison lived on a lot where three (3) trailers were situated in close proximity, with Harrison's trailer being first in the row of trailers, Travis Smart ("Smart") residing in the second trailer, and Warren Jennings ("Jennings") residing in the third trailer. (R.p.114, lines 9-14; p.126, lines 7-11; p.142, line 11-p.143, line 18). Harrison testified that upon his return from the neighborhood store, he opened his door and someone "grabbed [him] and pulled [him], hit [him]," and caused him to fall to floor before he gave the assailant his money—\$20.00—and his phone. (R.p.114, line 20-p.115, line 15; p.183, lines 21-22). Harrison testified he attempted to flee from his attacker to seek help from Jennings, but his attacker continuously hit him with an axe handle and pursued Harrison out the front door and for about fifty feet as he crossed the yard to Jennings' trailer. (R.p.118, lines 14-17; p.131, line 4-p.135, line 15). This account was uncorroborated, as Officer Kertcherside, who investigated the crime scene, testified the trail of blood leaving Harrison's home to Jennings' home was in ninety-degree droplets indicating the blood was merely dripping off Harrison, not that Harrison was being attacked as Harrison moved towards Jennings' home. (R.p. 227, lines 3-14).

Jennings sought police assistance, and while waiting for help, Harrison told Jennings what occurred at his home. (R.p.145, lines 3-p.149, line 15). Importantly, Harrison did not tell Jennings he knew his attacker. *Id.* Additionally, the police incident report does not indicate that Harrison told the police he knew his assailant when he was providing the police with a description of the assailant. (R.p.196, lines 5-20).

Although the assailant was wearing a mask, Harrison testified the mask fell during the attack and he recognized his assailant as someone he had seen before at Smart's home. (R.p.116, line 23-p.117, line 10). Harrison did not report this fact to the

police at the time of the incident. (R.p.196, lines 21-25; p.90, lines 9-17). Despite testifying that he had been hit about the head “forty to fifty” times with an axe handle, that he could not recall how he got to the hospital, that he was unconscious for twenty days, and that he suffered a fractured skull, Harrison positively identified Appellant as the assailant in court. (R.p.117, line 19-p.118, line 24; p.121, lines 6-23). Ultimately, Harrison was in the hospital for fifty days and has residual impairments from his attack including being often light-headed, with hearing and speech difficulties. (R.p.121, line 23-p.123, line 25).

Appellant was apprehended several hours later with the assistance of a gentleman named Derrell Jenkins (“Jenkins”). (R.p.177 line 1-p.178, line 5). Jenkins indicated he knew Appellant through their mutual friend, Smart. (R.p.162, lines 5-10). At trial, Jenkins testified that he spoke to Appellant several times on the day of the incident. (R.p.164, lines 21-22). Jenkins indicated his conversations earlier in the day with Appellant involved Appellant asking to borrow money and Jenkins telling Appellant he would loan him the money later in the day. (R.p.164, line 21-p.165, line 12). Jenkins further testified Appellant contacted him a third time, later in the day, stating he “had hit somebody across the head and left them leaking” and that he had done a “lick.”² (Id.; p.180, lines 4-7). Jenkins testified he initially did not want to get involved, but decided to go to Smart’s home to see what happened, and upon his arrival on Smart’s street, he observed Sheriff’s Department vehicles. (R.p.167, lines 7-18). Jenkins contacted the police, explained his earlier interactions with Appellant, and offered to assist the police in apprehending Appellant. (R.p.168, line 13-p.178, line 19). Jenkins suggested he would

² Later testimony defined the street term, “lick” as “somebody who is getting ready to perform some type of robbery.” (Id. at p.264, lines 15-19).

pretend to pick Appellant up and then have the police “randomly stop [them] and pick him up.” (Id.) When Appellant was apprehended, the amount of money he possessed “wasn’t close to Twenty-five Dollars.” (R. p.286, line 12-p.287, line 22).

Deputy James Thorpe (“Officer Thorpe”) of the Orangeburg County Sheriff’s Department responded to the scene of Harrison’s attack and later transported Appellant to Investigations Headquarters after his apprehension. (R.p.181, lines 2-9; p.182, line 11-p.184, line 14; p.185, lines 6-16). Importantly, Officer Thorpe testified that after he transports individuals in his patrol car he always searches his back seat, including lifting the seat cushions up. (R.p.186, lines 1-7; p.195, lines 4-6). After Officer Thorpe transported Appellant, he searched his back seat and found nothing. (Id. at p.195, lines 4-9). However, two days later, Officer Thorpe found a broken cell phone under the cushion of his back seat. (R.p.186, line 24-p.187, line 14; p.195, lines 4-12). Victim identified the cell phone as belonging to him. (R.p.124, lines 19-25).

Investigator William Ketcherside (“Ketcherside”) of the Orangeburg Sherriff’s Department also responded to the scene of Harrison’s attack. (R.p.200, line 25-p.201, line 7; p.202, lines 6-10). Investigator Ketcherside processed the scene for fingerprints, DNA, footwear impressions and blood spatter analysis. (R.p.201, line 16-p.230, line 17). The axe handle, which appeared to have blood on it, was recovered from Harrison’s home. (R.p.212, lines 7-19). Investigator Ketcherside also recovered the cell phone, which appeared to have blood on it, from Officer Thorpe’s patrol car and placed it into evidence for DNA testing. (R.p.218, line 23-p.221, line 25). Investigator Ketcherside testified that the phone was positioned in Officer Thorpe’s car such that if Officer Thorpe had pulled the back seat up after he transported Appellant he would have seen the cell

phone. (R.p.230, lines 3-16). Officer Ketcherside also collected DNA samples from Appellant and Victim for comparison to the DNA specimens collected from the crime scene and the cellphone. (R. p.222, line 18-p.225, line 6).

The South Carolina Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”), who analyzed the evidence recovered from the crime scene, was unable to recover any DNA from the axe handle. (R.p.238, line 16-p.239, line 4). No fingerprints were recovered from the back door or any interior or exterior door knobs of Harrison’s home. (R.p.214, line 125-p.215, line 5). The DNA on the cellphone was a mixture of at least two individuals—the major contributor being Victim and the minor contributor’s profile was insufficient for comparison. (R.p.242, line 17-p.244, line 5). SLED’s analysis of the samples provided to them revealed no DNA from Appellant was present at the crime scene, on the weapon, or on the cellphone. (R.p.250, lines 1-18).

Lieutenant James Shumpert (“Shumpert”), the supervisor of the Criminal Investigations Division of the Orangeburg County Sheriff’s Office, was the state’s last witness and testified as to his involvement in the investigation of this incident. (R.p.259, lines 5-16; p.260, lines 8-11). Shumpert was the officer who coordinated with Jenkins for the apprehension of Appellant. (R.p.261, line 19-p.263, line 9). After the “traffic stop,” Appellant was detained, subjected to a Terry³ frisk, and transported to the Criminal Investigation office. (R.p.263, line 10-p.264, line 6).

Over objection,⁴ Shumpert testified regarding the contents and circumstances surrounding three “statements” he obtained from Appellant. (R.p.258, lines 5-14). Shumpert testified that once Appellant arrived at the Criminal Investigations Division,

³ Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968).

⁴ A Jackson v. Denno hearing, pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), was held prior to trial and will be discussed more fully in Issue II *infra*.

Shumpert advised Appellant of his Miranda⁵ rights, had Appellant sign an advisement of rights form, and attempted to interview Appellant. (R.p.264, line 24-p.267, line 17). At that point, Appellant informed Shumpert he had no knowledge of the incident and requested an attorney (“Statement 1”) and asked to speak to Jenkins.⁶ (R.p.267, line 18-p.268, line 6; p.573). Shumpert discontinued his questions, allowed Appellant to speak with Jenkins per Appellant’s request, and then facilitated Appellant’s transport to the Orangeburg County Detention Center. (R.p.268, line 10-p.269, line 5).

Shumpert testified that the next day he was contacted by Appellant’s mother, whom he had had previous professional interaction based on her employment at the Orangeburg County Jail, who informed him Appellant wished to speak with him. (R. p.269, line 10-p.270, line 5). As a result of their conversation, Shumpert met Appellant’s mother at the Bamberg County Detention Center where Appellant had been transferred.⁷ (R.p.270, lines 1-19). Shumpert testified he inquired as to whether Appellant wanted to speak with him and that Appellant answered affirmatively, so he proceeded to get a statement from Appellant. (“Statement 2”). (R.p.270, line 24-p.273, line 9). In Appellant and Shumpert’s handwriting, the content of Statement 2 is as follows:

Mr. George kum [sic] to me after he was bruise and battery [sic] up he ask me to kall [sic] I tried but the phone I had was not working, so tell him [sic] to go to the next door neighbor and they will assit [sic] you. I was walking out to my Aunt and stay there about 2 hours [sic] The person who have done it was a guy tre [sic], dez [sic] and another character who they kall [sic] scrap [sic] I had nothing to do with it all I been trying to do is got home to my 2 daughters and couldn’t even do that [sic] there was no witness

⁵ Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

⁶ “Statement 1” is a misnomer in that Appellant did not actually give a statement the first time; however this reference is for convenience and ease of differentiation of the three interactions Shumpert had with Appellant and the distinct results of each.

⁷ Appellant was transferred based on his mother’s employment at the Orangeburg County Jail. (R.p. 33, lines 1-5).

[sic] no one around I just assume they did it because of how they was acting and you know actions speak louder than words.

Q: Did you use George Harrison's Phone to call Derrell?

A: yes

Q: Did you call him at 7:05 p.m. and told him to pick you up from Lil Cricket?

A: yes

Q: Do you own a Red Bandana?

A: yes

Q: Did you ask to speak to me?

A: yes

(R.p.273, line 15; p.276, line 24; p.576). Shumpert testified the main body of the statement and the responses after the "A" listings were in Appellant's handwriting and that Shumpert had written the "Qs" and the questions listed thereafter. Id. Shumpert testified that following his receipt of Statement 2, he told Appellant's mom and Appellant that Appellant was not telling him the truth (R.p.277, lines 7-17). Shumpert testified he knew Appellant was not being truthful based on the evidence he had learned from Ketcherside. (R.p.277, lines 16-19). On cross-examination, Shumpert testified he knew Appellant was not telling the truth based on the information he had and that he specifically told Appellant's mother he knew it "was a lie because Deputy Thorpe had found the cell phone in the back of his car." (R.p.294, lines 10-18). This testimony was in spite of the fact that the cell phone was not found in the back of Deputy Thorpe's car until the day after Statement 2 was taken—on July 27, 2011. (R.p.282, line 13-p.283, line 12; p.299, line 15-p.301, line 24).

Some twenty (20) minutes later and after Shumpert confronted Appellant telling Appellant he was lying, Appellant provided another statement ("Statement 3"). (R.p.277, line 20-p.280, line 18). Statement 3, in Appellant's handwriting reads:

I [sic] Darius Ransom is [sic] 21 [sic] I have high blood pressure [sic] an Enlarge Heart, [sic] a siss [sic] and a tumer [sic] on my

right kidney [sic] I went threw [sic] a bad situation [sic] I just flip [sic] I never a day in my life put my hands on anyone [sic] I am truly sorry and ask for your forgiveness. I went in Mr. George house waitn [sic] 4 [sic] him to use his fone [sic] again and all of a sudden I hit em [sic] 4 to 5 times [sic] scare I was crying and left a guy name tre [sic] has his fone [sic] and a kouple [sic] of dollars [sic] all I have been threw [sic] was just trying to get home to my gurls [sic] We went threw [sic] the back door and that was that. I'm sorry for the pain and suffering I have put Mr. George and my family [sic].

(R.p.279, line 14 – p.281, line 8; p.579). Shumpert admitted he never inquired as to Appellant's educational background. (R.p.292, lines 18-20).

The jury found Appellant guilty of first-degree burglary and assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature. (R.p.337, lines 2-13).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only.” State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, 671 S.E.2d 619 (Ct. App. 2008). “The court is bound by the trial court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous.” Id. “The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Gillian, 360 S.C. 433, 602 S.E.2d 62 (Ct. App. 2004). “A trial judge's evidentiary rulings will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant.” Id. “An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law.” State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 751, 751 S.E.2d, 645, 653 (2013).

The trial judge determines the admissibility of a statement upon proof of its voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. Parker at 74, 671 S.E.2d at 622. Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion. Id. “In criminal cases,

appellate courts are bound by fact finding in response to preliminary motions where there has been conflicting testimony or where the findings are supported by the evidence and not clearly wrong or controlled by an error of law.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Asbury*, 328 S.C. 187, 193, 493 S.E.2d 349, 352 (1997)). On appeal, “[w]hen reviewing a trial court’s ruling concerning voluntariness, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Saltz*, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001)).

ARGUMENT

I. The trial court erred in finding the inclusion of the reconstructed proceedings made the record sufficient for appellate review.

Following the trial of this matter, a timely notice of appeal was filed and a transcript ordered. Several months later, through no fault of Appellant’s, the court reporter still had not produced the transcript. Ultimately, Court Administration retrieved the tape and notes from the court reporter and transcribed what portions of the transcript it could. Unfortunately, the *Batson*⁸ motion and closing arguments were not transcribed. This Court ordered a reconstruction hearing. (R.p.1; pp.511-572). The *Batson* motion was reconstructed from the Court’s and counsels’ strike lists and notes. (R.p. 2-4; p.515, line 21-p.531, line 10). The Solicitor and Public Defender attempted to reconstruct their closing arguments by reading their respective closing argument outlines into the record. (R.p.531, line 11 – p.561, line 11) However, this attempt does not create a sufficient record for appellate review because it does not reflect any objection(s) made during the closing arguments at trial.

⁸ *Batson v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 79 (1986).

A defendant complaining of a defective transcript is entitled to a new trial if the defendant “establishes that the incomplete nature of the transcript prevents the appellate court from conducting meaningful appellate review.” See Adams v. H.R. Allen, Inc., 397 S.C. 652, 656-57, 726 S.E.2d 9, 12 (Ct. App. 2012) (“[T]he reconstructed record must allow for meaningful appellate review.”). Therefore, “before a defendant can establish that he is entitled to a new trial on the basis of an inadequate reconstructed record, he must identify a specific appellate claim that [an appellate court] would be unable to review effectively using the reconstructed record.” Id. at 325, 644 S.E.2d at 273.

Here, the reconstructed record is insufficient for appellate review. As argued during the hearing, the reconstruction is woefully deficient in presenting an adequate review of the closing arguments. (R.p. 567, line 1 – p.571, line 16).

On appeal, the appellate court must review the impropriety of a solicitor’s closing argument in the context of the entire record. See Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998). The appellant has the burden of proving he did not receive a fair trial because of an alleged improper argument by the solicitor. See Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E. 2d 160, 166 (2002). Here, Appellant can never meet this burden because the reconstruction of the closing arguments does not fully and accurately demonstrate what transpired during the closing arguments. Merely reading the closing argument outlines, as was done in this case, cannot capture the full extent and context of the closing argument. As conceded by the Solicitor during the reconstruction hearing, “I don’t really see any way I can word-for-word attempt to come back and say what I said to the jury a year and a-half ago.” (R.p.533, lines 6-8). Furthermore, the reading of the outlines does not reflect any objections or arguments related thereto for

appellate review. Accordingly, Appellant cannot raise any issues related to the solicitor's closing arguments or whether the trial court correctly ruled on any objections made during closing arguments because the record is incomplete. No reconstruction could sufficiently cure this error, and Appellant is forever precluded from raising any errors related to the solicitor's closing argument at his trial. This is the specific appellate claim—prejudicial statements made by the solicitor—that this Court is unable to review.

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