ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County
Edgar J. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212566

THE STATE,

Respondent,

DARIUS RASEAN RANSOM

vs

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

DAVID M. PASCOE, JR.
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

140 N. Main Street, Suite 102
Summerville, SC 29483
(843) 871-2640

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County
Edgar J. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-212566

THE STATE,

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

occurred during closing argument that counsel thought was so prejudicial as to amount to the denial of a fair trial, one would expect that part of the argument and his objection to be memorable. Quite simply, Ransom-Williams failed to show he was prejudiced by any deficiencies in reconstructing the record in the instant case.

Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in the reconstruction of closing arguments, and Ransom-Williams was not denied the opportunity for meaningful appellate review.

additional discussion about lesser included offenses, but indicated he was unaware of any other discrepancies and he did not offer his recollection of any objections he might have made. ROA. p. 52.

II.

Appellant's statement to law enforcement was freely and voluntarily provided. Although Appellant initially indicated he wanted an attorney, he reinitiated contact with law enforcement through his mother, and therefore, law enforcement properly continued questioning. Further, the remaining arguments against admission of the statement are not preserved for review, and the statement was admissible under the totality of the circumstances. Finally, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

During the pre-trial hearing, Ransom-Williams argued law enforcement improperly continued questioning after Ransom-Williams' mother contacted law enforcement and told Lieutenant Shumpert that Ransom-Williams wanted to talk to him. Ransom-Williams also argues on appeal that under the totality of circumstances, his statement should not have been admitted into evidence. The evidence in the record indicates that Ransom-Williams initiated contact with law enforcement. The additional arguments presented for the first time on appeal are not preserved for review. However, evidence supports a finding that the statement to law enforcement was freely and voluntarily provided. Even without the statement, evidence of guilt was overwhelming. Therefore, any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

Pre-trial hearing testimony and arguments

Lieutenant Shumpert first interviewed Ransom-Williams the night of July 25, 2011. Lieutenant Shumpert went through Ransom-Williams' rights that were printed on an affidavit. Ransom-Williams initialed each right after Lieutenant Shumpert went over the rights with Ransom-Williams. ROA. pp. 29-31. Lieutenant Shumpert testified he did not

threaten, coerce, or force Ransom-Williams to talk to Lieutenant Shumpert or to give a statement. Lieutenant Shumpert testified that he did not have any problems communicating with Ransom-Williams and he appeared to understand his rights. ROA. p. 31.

Lieutenant Shumpert asked Ransom-Williams what he knew, and Ransom-Williams denied any knowledge of the assault. Ransom-Williams indicated he wanted a lawyer and to talk to his friend, Jenkins. Lieutenant Shumpert ceased questioning and arranged for Ransom-Williams to talk to Jenkins. ROA. pp. 31-32.

Ransom-Williams was transported from the Orangeburg County Jail to the Bamberg County Jail that night due to his mother being a jail employee in Orangeburg. ROA. p. 33, lines 1-7. Lieutenant Shumpert was then contacted by Ransom-Williams' mother. Lieutenant Shumpert testified: "His mom had contacted me and said the Defendant wanted to talk with me." ROA. p. 33, lines 11-12. The State verified again that Ransom-Williams' mother told him that Ransom-Williams wanted to talk to him. ROA. p. 33, lines 18-20. On cross-examination during the hearing, Lieutenant Shumpert again verified that Ransom-Williams' mother called him "and told me he wanted to speak to me" ROA. p. 40, lines 18-23. Defense counsel did not like the answer to that question, so he further questioned Lieutenant Shumpert, as follows:

Q: And it's my understanding that you don't remember if Darius' mother told you that Darius wanted to speak to you, or if she told you she wanted you to speak to Darius?

A: No, on the phone that day she said that Darius wanted to speak to me. So when I got over there – that's why I asked him was he sure that he wanted to speak to me.

Q: So you have no recollection of her telling you that, in fact,

Darius did not want to speak to you?

A: That's not true.

Q: Okay, so she never told you that?

A: No, she never told me that.

ROA. p. 42, lines 1-5.

So Lieutenant Shumpert and Investigator Lakeesha Gillard went to the Bamberg County Jail to speak to Ransom-Williams. ROA. p. 33, lines 21-24. Ransom-Williams' mother met them at the jail. ROA. p. 42, line 25 – p. 43, line 1. Lieutenant Shumpert went through Ransom-Williams' rights with him again. The four rights were initialed by Ransom. ROA. pp. 33-34. Lieutenant Shumpert read directly from his notes that he asked Ransom-Williams if he was sure he wanted to speak to Lieutenant Shumpert. Ransom-Williams indicated he did. ROA. p. 35, lines 14-16. Ransom-Williams wrote a paragraph about his involvement in the incident, and then some questions and answers followed. One of the questions was whether Ransom-Williams asked to speak to Lieutenant Shumpert, and Ransom-Williams indicated that he did. ROA. pp. 35-36; pp. 45-46; State's Exhibit #2. Lieutenant Shumpert testified that Ransom-Williams appeared to understand his rights when read to him again in Bamberg. Lieutenant Shumpert testified that he did not force or threaten Ransom-Williams to get him to talk. He testified that Ransom-Williams appeared to be freely and voluntarily talking with Lieutenant Shumpert. ROA. p. 36. This time, Ransom-Williams did not indicate he wanted a lawyer. Lieutenant Shumpert testified that if Ransom-Williams had done so, Lieutenant Shumpert would have ceased questioning just like he did before. ROA. p. 36.

After Ransom-Williams gave a statement denying involvement, Lieutenant Shumpert told Ransom-Williams and his mom that “he wasn’t being honest. From the evidence we had collected – actually when we came out, I talked to his mom and told her that he was still refusing to be straight-forward. I told him that he needed to tell the truth.” ROA. p. 37, lines 10-14. After that, Ransom-Williams provided another statement, which became State’s Exhibit #3 at trial. ROA. p. 37, lines 15-21. The statement was written and signed by Ransom-Williams. Lieutenant Shumpert did not coerce or force Ransom-Williams to give this statement. ROA. p. 38, lines 2-7. Ransom-Williams did not appear to be under the influence of “anything.” ROA. p. 39, lines 16-17.

At the conclusion of the testimony presented for the Jackson v. Denno hearing,⁶ the trial court made the initial ruling, prior to argument from any party, that Ransom-Williams received his Miranda warnings, understood the warnings, and voluntarily made his statements. ROA. p. 77, lines 6-11. At that point, Ransom-Williams’ counsel made an argument that Lieutenant Shumpert violated Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981), by reinitiating contact with Lieutenant Shumpert. ROA. pp. 78-82. Ransom-Williams never argued the statement was involuntary due to third party involvement or the more generalized argument presented on appeal that the statement should not have been admitted under the totality of circumstances. Instead, Ransom-Williams’ counsel expressly waived any issue outside of the Edwards argument when he explained to the trial court: “The only issue we really have about the statements is whether or not they complied with the mandates of the Edwards case.” ROA. p. 77, lines 14-16.

⁶ See Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

Edwards does not apply because Appellant initiated contact through his mother.

Ransom-Williams complains his statement to law enforcement was involuntary because it was made after he invoked his right to counsel. Ransom-Williams relies heavily on his own view of the facts to make this argument. However, facts support the trial court's finding the statement is voluntary as evidence supports a finding that he initiated contact with law enforcement through contact with his mother.

The Fifth Amendment's privilege against self-incrimination provides an individual accused of a crime the right to consult with an attorney or to have an attorney present during custodial interrogation. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 478-79 (1966). Police must inform criminal suspects of their right to have an attorney present during custodial interrogation before the interrogation commences. Id. at 473-74 (1966). Once the warnings are given, if the suspect states he wants an attorney, the interrogation must cease until an attorney is present. Id. "Once an accused has invoked his right to have an attorney present during custodial interrogation, he may not be subjected to further police interrogation 'unless the accused himself initiates further communication, exchanges, or conversations with the police.'" In re Tracy B., 391 S.C. 51, 704 S.E.2d 71 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477, 484-85 (1981)) *cert dismissed as improvidently granted* 400 S.C. 502, 735 S.E.2d 504 (S.C. Sup.Ct. filed December 12, 2012).

The United States Supreme Court has noted the Edwards rule "is not a constitutional mandate, but judicially prescribed prophylaxis." Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 105 (2010). Therefore, the Supreme Court noted, it is a "judicially crafted rule" that is "justified only by reference to its prophylactic purpose." Id. at 106 (internal quotation marks and

citation omitted). “Its fundamental purpose, however, is to preserve the integrity of an accused’s choice to communicate with police only through counsel . . . by preventing police from badgering a defendant into waiving his previously asserted Miranda rights.” Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). “Thus, the benefits of the rule are measured by the number of coerced confessions it suppresses that otherwise would have been admitted.” Id. In contrast, the Shatzer court noted that extending the Edwards rule increases the costs that voluntary confessions will be excluded from trial or law enforcement may not even try to obtain one. Id. at 108. “Voluntary confessions are not merely a proper element in law enforcement, . . . they are an unmitigated good.” Id. (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).

This Court observed that “[m]ost other jurisdictions addressing the issue have held that defendants can, after invoking their Fifth Amendment right to counsel, reinitiate contact with police via a third party.” In re Tracy B. at 63, 704 S.E.2d at 77. As in the present case, Tracy B. initiated contact with the police through his mother after invoking his right to counsel. Specifically, this Court noted that after Tracy B.’s mother met with Tracy B., she informed law enforcement that Tracy B. wanted to speak to law enforcement. Shortly afterwards, the police officer asked Tracy B. if he still wanted to talk with police and Tracy B. indicated that he did. This Court found that the officer did not reinitiate contact with Tracy B., but was only confirming the accuracy of the information Tracy B.’s mother provided law enforcement. This Court found that Tracy B. reinitiated contact with law enforcement. In re Tracy B. at 64, 704 S.E.2d at 77-78.

This Court noted a similar case decided by the Georgia Supreme Court in Harvell v.

State, 562 S.E.2d 180, 182 (Ga. 2002). In that case, Harvell invoked his right to counsel, but a police officer was informed by Harvell's mother that Harvell wished to give a statement. Id. at 182. The officer asked Harvell if he had "changed his mind." Id. The defendant confirmed he did change his mind, signed a waiver form, and gave an inculpatory statement. Id. The Georgia Supreme Court concluded the Edwards rule was not violated by admission of Harvell's statement. Id. at 182-83.

Like Harvell and Tracy B., Ransom-Williams initiated contact with law enforcement through his mother. Lieutenant Shumpert testified that the day after Ransom-Williams invoked his right to counsel, Ransom-Williams' mother contacted Lieutenant Shumpert and informed him that **Ransom-Williams wanted to speak with him.**⁷ ROA. p. 33, lines 11-20.⁸ Lieutenant Shumpert met with Ransom-Williams and his mother. Lieutenant Shumpert asked Ransom-Williams if he was sure he wanted to talk to Lieutenant Shumbert and **Ransom-Williams indicated he did.** ROA. p. 35, lines 8-16; p. 271, lines 4-9. On cross-examination during the pretrial motion, Lieutenant Shumpert testified "I reminded him he had asked to speak to an attorney, and I asked him if he was sure he wanted to speak to me, and he again stated he had nothing to do with the incident." ROA. p. 46, lines 10-13. Lieutenant Shumpert went through Ransom-Williams' Miranda rights. Ransom-Williams initialed the waiver of each right before providing a statement. ROA. p. 34, lines 2-24; p. 36. Ransom-Williams never asked for an attorney while Lieutenant Shumpert visited him at the

⁷ Accordingly, this case differs from State v. Anderson, 357 S.C. 514, 593 S.E.2d 820 (Ct. App. 2004). In that case, Anderson's aunt suggested to law enforcement to speak to Anderson after he had applied for a public defender. There was no evidence that the aunt was contacting law enforcement at Anderson's request.

⁸ Ransom-Williams' mother, Janet Williams, testified. She was equivocal about whether she told police that Ransom-Williams wanted to talk to them, admitting "it could have [happened]." ROA. p. 60, lines 5-10. Janet

Bamberg County jail. ROA. p. 47. A follow-up question in State's Exhibit #2 was whether Ransom-Williams asked to speak to Lieutenant Shumpert, and Ransom Williams answered "yes." State's Exhibit #2.

Although the issue in Shatzer was not whether the defendant reinitiated contact, but whether a substantial break in custody ends the application of Edwards, an observation by the Shatzer court serves as a parable applicable in the instant case:

The fallacy here is that we are not talking about "reinterrogating" the suspect; we are talking about asking his permission to be interrogated. An officer has in no sense lied to a suspect when, after advising, as Miranda requires, "you have the right to remain silent, and if you choose to speak you have the right to the presence of an attorney," he promptly ends the attempted interrogation because the suspect declines to speak without counsel present, and then, two weeks later, reapproaches the suspect and asks, "Are you now willing to speak without a lawyer present?"

Shatzer, 559 U.S. at 115. In the instant case, not much time passed, but unlike Shatzer, Ransom-Williams initiated contact through his mother. He could have told Lieutenant Shumpert "no" when asked if he wanted to talk to the lieutenant. He could have invoked his right to counsel again when Lieutenant Shumpert advised him of Miranda again. The statement was voluntary.

"When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, this Court does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance of evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by any evidence." State v. Parker, 381 S.C. 68, 74, 671 S.E.2d 619, 622 (Ct. App. 2008) (internal quotation marks omitted). In

Williams would claim that Ransom-Williams told her that he did not want to talk to Shumpert and she believed that Ransom-Williams told Shumpert that he did not want to talk. ROA. p. 60, lines 19-22.

the instant case, based on Lieutenant Shumpert's testimony, the trial court's ruling is supported by evidence that Ransom-Williams initiated contact with law enforcement through his mother. Ransom-Williams confirmed he wanted to speak with Lieutenant Shumpert and was provided his warnings again. Then he made up a story, but realizing the Lieutenant was not fooled, told the truth, voluntarily – the “unmitigated good” discussed in Shatzer occurred in the instant case. The conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

Ransom-Williams did not preserve his remaining argument regarding the voluntariness of his statement, and the statement was properly admitted into evidence.

Ransom-Williams follows up his argument regarding Edwards with a more generalized argument that the statement was involuntary because of his mother's involvement and the trial court should have not admitted the statement under the totality of circumstances. These arguments were not presented below and are not preserved. Further, the trial court's findings are supported by evidence.

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